FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/27/2022 2:39 PM
NO. 37812-8-III

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/27/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK
100881-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVENS COUNTY, WASHINGTON, EX REL TIM RASMUSSEN; AND TIM RASMUSSEN, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS PROSECUTING ATTORNEY OF STEVENS COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Petitioners,

v.

TRAVELERS SURETY AND CASUALTY COMPANY OF AMERICA; UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants,

DONALD L. DASHIELL, IN HIS PERSONAL CAPACITY; WESLEY LEWIS MCCART, IN HIS PERSONAL CAPACITY; AND STEVEN LYNN PARKER, IN HIS PERSONAL CAPACITY,

Respondents.

Appeal from Court of Appeals No. 37812-8-III

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves an action against county commissioners and their official bonds for unconstitutional gifting of public funds. Division Three of the court of appeals reversed judgment against the individual commissioners, promising future county commissioners "that they will not be removed from office and subject to financial liability" for making similar illegal gifts.

Stevens County ex rel. Rasmussen v. Travelers Surety and Casualty Company of America, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, __ P.3d ___, 2022 WL 965155 ¶ 28 (Div. III, Mar. 31, 2022) (Rasmussen).

In granting this license to gift public funds to future commissioners, Division Three misapplies cases issued by this Court, ignores relevant cases issued by both this Court and Division Two, renders a statute superfluous and void, and frees the office of county commissioner from Const. art. XI, § 5's strict accountability mandate. Review of this case is proper pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Reversal of the appellate court's decision

is required by the authorities cited herein and in the brief of respondent.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Stevens County and Stevens County Prosecuting Attorney
Tim Rasmussen (collectively Prosecutor Rasmussen) ask for
review of the decision designated in part III. Prosecutor
Rasmussen was plaintiff in the trial court and respondent in the
court of appeals.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The court of appeals reversed the trial court's orders on summary judgment and remanded with instructions to vacate the judgment issued against the three commissioners and to grant summary judgment in their favor in an opinion filed March 31, 2022. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether granting immunity to county commissioners for their unconstitutional gifting of public funds presents an issue of substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- B. Whether granting immunity to county commissioners for the unlawful expenditure of public funds violates Washington Constitution article XI, section 5's requirement to provide for the strict accountability of county commissioners for the public monies they control. RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- C. Whether Division Three's opinion conflicts with this Court's robust body of opinions related to official bonds, and with *State v. Levy*, 8 Wn.2d 630, 113 P.2d 306 (1941), and *Miller v. Pacific County*, 91 Wn.2d 744, 592 P.2d 639 (1979). RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- D. Whether Division Three's requirement that a claim against a bond for an unconstitutional gift of public funds requires proof of corrupt or malicious motives conflicts with Division Two's opinion in *State v. Gallagher*, 15 Wn. App. 267, 549 P.2d 499 (1976), which held that neither must be shown when public funds are used for a purpose not authorized by law. RAP 13.4(2).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Steven Parker, Wesley McCart, and Donald Dashiell (collectively "Commissioners") were duly elected Stevens County Commissioners. CP 20 ¶¶ 3.5-3.7, 28 ¶¶ 3.5-3.7, 117-169. At the start of their respective terms, each posted the bond required by RCW 36.32.060 and RCW 36.16.050(5). CP 170-

189. Official bonds were in effect at all times relevant to this action. CP 49 $\P\P$ 4 & 6, 55 \P 4, 170-189, 409-428.

The Commissioners controlled all county funds, including a restricted account dedicated to providing assistance to homeless persons. See generally RCW 36.22.178, .179, and .179.1 (affordable housing for all surcharge); RCW 36.32.120(5) and (6); chapter 43.185C RCW. On December 29, 2014, the Commissioners authorized \$50,000 of this restricted account to be paid to Habitat for Humanity—Colville Valley Partners (Habitat). CP 40 ¶ 5.10; CP 436. They approved three separate reimbursement requests, issuing payments that Habitat could use for any purpose it desired. CP 438, 440, 453, 455, 566:21-567:2. The Commissioners authorized an additional \$50,000 of this restricted account for the Casey McKern Pay It Forward Foundation (Foundation) on February 20, 2017, and approved the processing of this gift on June 5, 2017. CP 444, 446, 453. The Commissioners did not seek any legal advice regarding the propriety of these disbursements of public funds, nor did the County receive any consideration in exchange for these funds.

The foregoing payments were to reimburse Habitat and the Foundation for expenses incurred in construction of the Pay It Forward House (House). Habitat, which participated in the early stages of construction of the House, "is an ecumenical Christian housing ministry working to build simple, decent, affordable houses in partnership with those in need." CP 325. The Foundation, which was to own and operate the House, was formed for general charitable purposes, described as "[a]ssisting individuals and families experiencing distress and supporting efforts that strengthen communities." CP 482. Both Habitat and the Foundation are nonprofit corporations. CP 482, 292-501.

The House was intended to be a home for Casey McKern, a Stevens County resident who was rendered quadriplegic in a tragic diving accident. CP 473. When the House was built, Mr. McKern was not homeless, and neither Mr. McKern, Habitat, nor the Foundation intended the House to accommodate additional

residents. *See generally* CP 323, 325, 473, 480, 531, 533:2-12, 534:3-8, 535:11- 536:13, 585:4-24, 586:21-587:2, 587:9-588:9-3. The building permit application for the House described it as a "Residential House," CP 488, the House was built in an area zoned for "Single Family Residences, CP 489, and the certificate of occupancy is in the name of Mr. McKern himself as "owner of the building" rather than the Foundation. *Id.* Since the House was built, Mr. McKern has hosted several people for short stays so they could go hunting with him, but only one person who "physically lived there" for a longer period of time. CP 542:20-23. There is no indication that any of these individuals were homeless. CP 340, 543:5-546:21.

Nothing prevents the Foundation from changing the purpose or use of the House. CP 532:13-534:1, 539:10- 540:23, 552, 565:22-25. There are no agreements with Stevens County that limit the use of the House in any way. CP 539:10-540:9. The Foundation's "plan is ultimately to gift the home to [Mr. McKern] at some point in the future." CP 552:2-3. While the

Foundation currently plans to include a stipulation that the House "comes back to the foundation if something should happen to [Mr. McKern] or he can no longer occupy it[,]" there is nothing that would prevent the Foundation from gifting it to Mr. McKern outright or making another private disposition of the property. CP 552:4-20.

The Commissioners authorized giving \$30,128 from the homelessness account to Joe and Alena Boharski (Boharskis) for reimbursement of expenses they previously paid to move their house on July 9 and 10, 2018. CP 450, 580:20-581:1. The Commissioners authorized giving an additional \$198.25 to the Boharskis for payment of "fees associated with the relocation of [their] residence" on July 23, 2018. CP 451. Both payments were processed on August 2, 2018. CP 351-42. Again, the Commissioners did not seek any legal advice regarding the propriety of these disbursements of public funds, nor did the County receive any consideration in exchange for these funds.

Before receiving the funds, the Boharskis had already paid to have their house moved, and as a result, they were free to use the money from the county however they wanted. CP 582:7-24, 343-344, 348-49. *See also* CP 599:15-22. They could have used the money to go to Vegas, or they could have sold the house and pocketed the proceeds. CP 582:7-10.

The Boharskis' home, which is located on the bank high above the Kettle River, had to be moved further from the riverbank after subsidence caused by flooding runoff rendered the house uninhabitable. CP 341, 350. The Boharskis never asked or applied for money from Stevens County, and they hired a contractor to move their house before the prospect of receiving county funds was raised. CP 343-45. They did not request the funds. Instead, Commissioner Parker suggested to them that the county might have funds to help pay for the expense of moving their home. CO 576:11-12, 579:23-580:4.

The Commissioners did not review the assets and liabilities of the Boharskis, nor did they do anything to determine

whether they had sufficient resources to complete the moving and other repairs to their house without county funds. CP 581:2-13. In actuality, the Boharskis had resources to move their house and complete the other needed repairs. The Boharskis had equity in the house and the property on which it was located, CP 355, 502, 510:6-9, 511:22-25, significant retirement accounts, CP 511:22-25, 516:3-4, 517:16-18, 518:25-519:1, 525:1-8, proceeds from the sale of an Alaska house, CP 512:1-515:3, and money in a savings account that was controlled by Mrs. Boharski, CP 525:1-8, as well as Mr. Boharski's earnings. CP 522:19-523:12.

Following the payments to Habitat, the Foundation, and the Boharskis, the Washington State Auditor's Office (Auditor) conducted an accountability audit of Stevens County. The Auditor determined that the payments made to Habitat, the Foundation, and the Boharskis from the Stevens County homelessness funds were unlawful gifts of public funds. CP 456 (Report No. 1023305 (Feb. 21, 2019)). The Auditor's Office advised the Commissioners that they could avoid future unlawful

gifts of public funds by seeking legal counsel from the prosecuting attorney "before approving extraordinary or unusual expenditures of homelessness funds." CP 462. The Commissioners rejected this recommendation, stating that, "While many things can and should be sent to legal counsel for review, it is unusual and inappropriate to send spending requests to the prosecutor for determination." CP 465.

After the receipt of the audit, Prosecutor Rasmussen formally requested reimbursement to the county of the unlawful gifts. When payment was not forthcoming, he initiated an action pursuant to RCW 36.32.060 and RCW 42.08.020 in the name of Stevens County upon the Commissioners' sureties and against the Commissioners personally. (Collectively "Defendants.") CP

_

^{&#}x27;The county commissioners are personally liable for any judgment in excess of the face amount of the bonds. *See* RCW 42.08.020 (authorizing suit against the public officer individually); RCW 42.08.050 (limiting surety's liability to the face amount of the bond, but not otherwise limiting public officer's liability); *Whatcom County v. Schuman*, 12 Wn.2d 290, 294, 121 P.2d 378 (1942) (affirming "joint and several

14-30. Prosecutor Rasmussen's action was mandated by RCW 36.27.020(4),² and brought for proper reasons. *See generally* CP 31, 64, 95-96, 291.

The action on the bonds was resolved in the trial court on summary judgment, with an award to the county against all Defendants. CP 275, 1041, 1062. Only the Commissioners appealed the judgment, not the sureties. CP 1, 1041, 1074. Division Three of the court of appeals reversed the grant of summary judgment and the award solely as to the Commissioners and remanded the case with instructions to enter summary judgment in their favor. See Stevens County ex rel. Rasmussen v. Travelers Surety and Casualty Company of

judgment" against county commissioners as well as bonding companies).

² The prosecuting attorney may not bring an action on behalf of the county to recover the funds from the recipients without the legislative authorities' permission. *See generally* RCW 36.32.120(6). An action against the recipients is not required in conjunction with or as a condition precedent to an action on the bonds. *See City of Tacoma v. Peterson*, 165 Wash. 461, 469, 5 P.2d 1022 (1931).

America, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, __ P.3d ___, 2022 WL 965155 (Div. III, Mar. 31, 2022) (Rasmussen).

VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Actions on Official Bonds Are Governed by a Robust Body of Case Law That The Court of Appeals Largely Ignored

In its opinion, the court of appeals indicates distaste for this action on the Commissioners' bond terming it a "novel approach," and hinting that the action was brought for improper reasons. *See Rasmussen* at ¶ 1, 6 (Prosecutor Rasmussen was "armed with the auditor's report."). Actions upon official bonds, however, have existed since statehood and prosecuting attorneys are charged with asserting claims against the bonds on behalf of the counties and the constituents they serve.

The delegates, who met for Washington's 1889 Constitutional Convention, were selected by a populace which had a general distrust of representative government and a strong fear that government officials would be corrupted through bribes and other practices. Robert Utter and Hugh D. Spitzer, *The Washington State Constitution: A Reference Guide* at 11 (2002). The delegates addressed their concerns within the constitution, adopting strict limits upon the expenditure of public funds and strong deterrents to violating these provisions. *See* Const. art. XI, § 5 (strict accountability by county officers for all public monies); Const. art. VIII, § 7 (prohibiting gifts of public funds or property); Const. art. XI, § 14 (prohibiting using public funds for any purpose not authorized by law by any officer having "possession or control thereof," and making violations a felony).

Statutes implementing the constitutional anti-corruption provisions were in force shortly after the constitution was adopted. These statutes, which required certain elected officials to post bonds conditioned upon the faithful discharge of their duties and permitted actions upon the bonds for misconduct, neglect, and wrongful acts, have remained largely unchanged through the decades. *Compare* RCW 36.32.060 and RCW 36.16.050 *with* Laws of 1893, ch. 75, § 7; RCW 42.08.020 *with*

Laws of 1877, p. 135, § 656; RCW 42.08.080 with Laws of 1890, p. 34, § 3; and RCW 42.12.010(8) with Laws of 1866, p. 28, § 2.³ The bonds protect the local government entity and its constituents from abuse of the extraordinary power vested in public officials by virtue of their office. *Nelson v. Bartell*, 4 Wn.2d 174, 185-86, 103 P.2d 30 (1940).

Despite this Court's relatively high jurisdictional threshold of \$200 for actions seeking the recovery of money,⁴ Const. art. IV, § 4, many appeals regarding claims against official bonds were heard during the first century of statehood. These cases established that the liability of public officials and their bonds is akin to that of an insurer. *See State ex rel. O'Connell v. Engen*, 60 Wn.2d 52, 55-56, 371 P.2d 638 (1962) (stating "the law is settled that public officials having the official custody of public funds are insurers, act of God or act of a public enemy

³The modern statutes and the historical statutes are both reproduced in the appendix.

⁴ \$200 in 1889 is equivalent to \$6,250.08 in today's dollars.

alone excepted"; and collecting citations to "a long line of cases" supporting this proposition). The insurer-like standard of liability for public officers serves the "salutary" purpose of safeguarding public funds. *Pierce County ex rel. Dunbar v. Campbell*, 176 Wash. 203, 209, 28 P.2d 785 (1934). Such liability is justified because public officers "know well, on assuming their positions, the hazards to which they are exposed, and they voluntarily assume the risks, and are paid for so doing." *Fairchild v. Hedges*, 14 Wash. 117, 124, 44 Pac. 125 (1896).⁵

Public officials and their bonds were liable for innocent as well as criminal lapses, regardless of personal gain or the exercise of due care. *See generally Engen*, 60 Wn.2d at 55; *City of Shelton v. Clapper*, 23 Wn.2d 811, 814, 816, 162 P.2d 445

_

⁵ Public officials liability insurance can provide peace of mind and protect a commissioner's personal assets should the commissioner authorize, audit, or order, an illegal expenditure. *See* International Risk Management Institute, Inc., Glossary, Public Officials Liability Insurance (available at https://www.irmi.com/term/insurance-definitions/public-officials-liability-insurance (last visited Apr. 15, 2021).

(1945); Whatcom County v. Schuman, 12 Wn.2d 290, 295, 121 P.2d 378 (1942); Campbell, 176 Wash. at 209; Fairchild, 14 Wash. at 119. The Rasmussen opinion, at least as to county commissioners, is contrary to these cases. See generally 2022 WL 965155 at *4-5 ¶¶ 5-6 (no surety liability absent corrupt or malicious motives).

This Court's unbroken precedent that corrupt or malicious motives are not required to maintain an action on an official bond is consistent with the plain language of RCW 42.08.020. This statute makes a bond payable for "official misconduct or neglect of duty." *Id.* The phrase "official misconduct," which is a synonym for "malfeasance," is a comprehensive word that includes the commission of an act that is positively unlawful. *Hoflin v. Ocean Shores*, 121 Wn.2d 113,134, 847 P.2d 428 (1993); Webster's New World Dictionary 857 (College ed. 1986). Malfeasance is punishable regardless of motive or lack of personal gain. *See State v. Gallagher*, 15 Wn. App. 267, 274-

75, 549 P.2d 499 (Div. II 1976) (construing elements of a violation of Const. art. XI, § 14).

The prosecuting attorney is given the responsibility of bringing actions upon official bonds to recover public funds that were illegally expended or otherwise lost by a public official. See RCW 36.27.020(4). In discharging this responsibility, prosecuting attorneys are guided by both appellate decisions and attorney general opinions. See RCW 43.10.030(4). The attorney general advised that actions upon official bonds were proper when a board of commissioners authorized payment of money in violation of statutes or the constitution, and that a grant or gift to a nonprofit private association violates article VIII, § 7, even though its ultimate purpose might be to benefit persons who are eligible for direct assistance under the constitution. 1973 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 18; 1951 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 114.

Actions on official bonds became rarer as the years passed.

Numerous factors contribute to this decrease, including improved accounting systems and technology, greater

availability of insurance policies, voluntary restoration of funds,⁶ and legislative exceptions to strict liability. *See, e.g.,* RCW 39.58.140 (removing strict liability from treasurer for loss of funds deposited in a public depository).

Three additional factors have all but eliminated actions against the official bonds of county commissioners. First, county commissioners are educated regarding the constitutional prohibition upon gifts of public funds. Second, commissioners have ready access to a legal advisor—the prosecuting attorney. And third, commissioners rarely make expenditures in violation of the constitutional prohibition upon gifts of public funds. See generally Office of the Washington State Auditor Accountability

_

⁶ Voluntary restoration avoids the vacancy in office created by a judgment on the bond. *See* RCW 42.12.010(8).

⁷ See, e.g., Municipal Research and Services Center, Knowing the Territory: Basic Legal Guidelines for Washington City, County and Special Purpose District Officials at 1 6 - 1 8 (Jan. 2022 e d.) (available at http://mrsc.org/getmedia/1e641718-94a0-408b-b9d9-42b2e1d8180d/Knowing-The-Territory.pdf.aspx?ext=.pdf (last visited Apr. 19, 2022)).

Audit Reports of County Governments from 2005 through April 15, 2022 (gift of county funds found in only one of 591 audits, *i.e.*, No. 1023305, which gave rise to this action).⁸

B. The Court of Appeals Rendered RCW 36.32.060, the Statute Upon Which This Action Was Based, a Nullity.

This action upon the Commissioners' official bonds was brought pursuant to a "commissioner specific" statute, RCW 36.32.060. See CP 14-30. While the court of appeals quoted this statute in its opinion, it relied upon RCW 36.16.050, a general bond statute not cited in the complaint, in reversing the trial court. Compare Rasmussen, at ¶ 12 (quoting RCW 36.32.060), with ¶¶ 11, 15, and 23 (discussing and applying RCW 36.16.050). In doing so, the court of appeals nullifies RCW 36.32.060 and renders it meaningless or superfluous. The court did this by mislabeling the management of county funds a legislative function, and then granting a form of discretionary

⁸ Detailed information in support of this statement may be found in the appendix.

executive immunity or legislative immunity for resolutions ordering the disbursal of funds that are approved by a majority of the board during regular public meetings. *See generally Rasmussen* at ¶¶ 15-19.

1. County Commissioners Are Unique Officers Who Possess Both Legislative and Executive/Administrate Functions

While a board of county commissioners acts in a legislative capacity in setting budgets and enacting taxes, the approving of specific expenditures is an executive or administrative function:

RCW 36.32, and particularly 36.32.120, reveals that county commissioners perform a variety of functions, including both legislative executive/administrative duties. General legislative responsibilities include adoption of formal budgetary and taxing enactments and general police power ordinances and resolutions. However, the commissioners also are charged with the executive/administrative functions of managing county funds and accounts, prosecuting and defending actions by and against the county, and overseeing the care and use of county property.

Miller v. Pacific County, 91 Wn.2d 744, 753-54, 592 P.2d 639 (1979) (Utter, C.J., dissenting). Accord State ex rel. Bain v. Clallam County Board of County Commissioners, 77 Wn.2d 542, 548, 463 P.2d 617 (1970) ("Within its sphere of responsibility, the board of county commissioners exercises the county's legislative power along with certain executive and, to a very limited degree, perhaps some judicial authority.").

2. A Special Bond Statute Protects the County and Its Constituents from Official Misconduct With Respect to the Administration and Management of County Funds and Accounts

In recognition that county commissioners are unique, the Legislature discharged its responsibility under Const. art. XI, § 5 by adopting a special bond provision for their office. The bonds that county commissioners post are unrelated to their legislative duties. The bonds secure only the proper performance of their executive/administrative functions of managing county funds and accounts, and overseeing the care and use of county property:

The bond of each county commissioner shall be payable to the county, and it shall be conditioned that the commissioner shall well and faithfully discharge the duties of his or her office, and not approve, audit, or order paid any illegal, unwarranted, or unjust claim against the county for personal services.

RCW 36.32.060.9

3. RCW 36.32.060 Creates Individual Liability For Illegal Gifts of Public Funds

RCW 36.32.060 unambiguously applies to the actions and/or decisions of an individual commissioner: "The bond of *each* county commissioner shall be payable to the county, and it shall be conditioned that *the* commissioner shall faithfully discharge the duties of *his or her* office." [Emphasis added.] RCW 42.08.020, the enforcement mechanism for violations of RCW 36.32.060, similarly applies to "a public officer" and "his or her official bond."

⁹ Although the official bonds do not contain this language, both the Commissioners and their sureties remain liable for a violation

of RCW 36.32.060. See RCW 42.08.090.

Under both RCW 36.32.060 and RCW 42.08.020, each commissioner is liable under his bond for his personal vote. A commissioner who does not personally approve, audit, or order paid an unlawful expenditure of public funds has no exposure for the acts of the board. Ratification of a commissioner's improper vote by another commissioner does not relieve the commissioner or his sureties of liability. *Cf. Kittitas v. Travers*, 16 Wash. 528, 529, 48 Pac. 340 (1897) (county commissioners' approval of the treasurer's selected bank did not relieve the treasurer or his sureties from liability).

Here all three commissioners tendered individual votes approving the unconstitutional gifts of public funds. All three commissioners ordered funds to be paid to the Boharskis and to nonprofit corporations for the House out of the restricted homelessness account. All three commissioners audited the claims for reimbursement filed by the Boharskis, Habitat, and the Foundation. All three commissioners, along with their sureties,

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