FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/26/2022 1:38 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 1008813

Appeal from Court of Appeals No. 37812-8-III

Stevens County, Washington, ex rel Tim Rasmussen,

Petitioners,

VS.

DONALD L. DASHIELL, et al,

Respondents

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JULIE C. WATTS/WSBA #43729
Attorney for Respondents
The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC
505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 207-7615

# **

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

This issue is addressed in the argument section below.

<sup>5</sup> Opinion, pg. 2.

6 *Id* 

ISSUE D: "Whether Division Three's requirement that a claim against a bond for an unconstitutional gift of public funds requires proof of corrupt or malicious motives conflicts with Division Two's opinion in *State v. Gallagher*, 15 Wn. App. 267, 549 P.2d 499 (1976), which held that neither

must be shown when public funds are used for a purpose not authorized by law. RAP 13.4(2).

First, RCW 42.08.020 indicates that a public officer forfeits

his or her bond through "official misconduct or neglect of duty,"

which Mr. Rasmussen never alleged, choosing instead to claim

that the Officers were subject to strict liability via the

independent cause of action contained in RCW 36.32.060.

Second, Mr. Rasmussen cites State v. Gallagher for the first

time on appeal to this Court; it is addressed in the arguments

below.

**ANSWER TO ARGUMENT A:** 

"Actions on Official Bonds are Governed by a Robust Body of Case Law That The Court of Appeals Largely Ignored."

In his petition, Mr. Rasmussen asserts that Division III's

Opinion is "contrary" to a long line of cases that discuss an

Answer to Petition - Page 6 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615 individual officer's personal liability related to the handling of

county funds. It is true that there are numerous cases that address

the liability of an individual officer for the handling of public

funds, but those facts were not at issue in this case. In a novel

claim, Mr. Rasmussen asserted that each individual officer is

personally liable for the decisions made by the Board as a body.

There is no case that supports that proposition in all of

Washington's history, as Mr. Rasmussen himself admitted in his

briefing to the court of appeals, and which Division III

recognized when it stated that "there is no authority for the claim

that a legislative official, such as a county commissioner, can be

sued personally for official legislative actions." In his petition,

Mr. Rasmussen admits that the statutes that require "certain

elected officials to post bonds conditions upon the faithful

discharge of their duties and permitted actions upon the bonds

for misconduct, neglect, and wrongful acts, have remained

<sup>7</sup> Opinion, pg. 9.

Answer to Petition - Page 7 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615 largely unchanged through the decades,"8 so it is not surprising

that Mr. Rasmussen cannot find any authority to support his

novel interpretation of that statute.

Mr. Rasmussen claims that the "prosecuting attorney is given

the responsibility of bringing actions upon official bonds to

recover public funds that were illegally expended or otherwise

lost by a public official." To support this assertion, he cites to

RCW 36.27.020(4), which describes his duty to:

... prosecute all criminal and civil actions in which the state or the county may be a party, defend all

suits brought against the state or the county, and prosecute actions upon forfeited recognizances and

bonds and actions for the recovery of debts, fines, penalties, and forfeitures accruing to the state or the

county."

Simply because a legal proceeding is Mr. Rasmussen's duty

to prosecute, however, does not mean that he is empowered to

initiate lawsuits unilaterally without the authorization of the

Board pursuant to RCW 36.32.120(6).

<sup>8</sup> Petition, pg. 13.

<sup>9</sup> Petition, pg. 17.

Answer to Petition - Page 8 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

Further, Mr. Rasmussen makes no attempt to explain how the

Officers' bonds were forfeited or how he could possibly claim

that the Officers owed the County a "debt, fine, penalty, or

forfeiture" without there having been any adjudication as to that

allegation. In addition to being the prosecutor, Mr. Rasmussen

appears to view himself as the judge, jury, and executioner of

Stevens County; however, he provides no support for that

perspective anywhere in statute or case law.

Mr. Rasmussen argues that "corrupt or malicious motives are

not required to maintain an action on an official bond" pursuant

to RCW 42.08.020, but he fails to acknowledge that "misconduct

or neglect of duty" are required to maintain an action on an

official bond per RCW 42.08.020. Mr. Rasmussen did not allege

misconduct or neglect of duty in his lawsuit; instead, he claimed

that the Officers were subject to strict liability. (Mr. Rasmussen

cites to a new case, State v. Gallagher, 10 for the first time on

<sup>10</sup> 15 Wn.App. 267, 274-75, 549 P.2d 499 (1976).

Answer to Petition - Page 9 of 19

appeal, which discusses the distinction between the crimes of

malfeasance and misfeasance; however, this does not seem

helpful given that Mr. Rasmussen never alleged a crime or any

type of -feasance.)

**ANSWER TO ARGUMENT B:** 

"The Court of Appeals Rendered RCW 36.32.060, the

Statute Upon Which This Action Was Based, a Nullity."

Mr. Rasmussen claims that Division III's decision rendered

RCW 36.32.060 "meaningless or superfluous." Here, as

throughout this proceeding, Mr. Rasmussen assumes that RCW

36.32.060 provides an independent cause of action, but he has

never been able to cite to any authority to support that

assumption nor has he ever explained how the plain language of

the statute could be construed to create one. RCW 36.32.060

merely requires specific language to be included in an officer's

bond; where an officer has posted a bond containing that specific

Answer to Petition - Page 10 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615 language RCW 36.32.060 is fulfilled.<sup>11</sup> It is undisputed that all three officers posted the appropriate bond. Because Mr. Rasmussen provides no legal authority for his claim that RCW 36.32.060 provides a cause of action independent of RCW

42.08.020, this Court may disregard it.<sup>12</sup>

## **ANSWER TO ARGUMENT B(1)**:

"County Commissioners Are Unique Officers Who Possess Both Legislative and Executive/Administrative Functions."

Mr. Rasmussen makes a new argument for the first time on appeal that individual officers have a fluctuating level of personal liability depending on whether they cast a vote for an issue where the collective Board is serving a legislative function

<sup>11</sup> In re Recall of Sandhaus, 134 Wn.2d 662, 670-71, 953 P.2d 82 (1998).

<sup>12 &</sup>quot;Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, as found none." *Frank Coluccio Const. Co. v. King County*, 136 Wn.App. 751, 779, 150 P.3d 1147 (2007)(quoting *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962). "A failure to cite authority constitutes a concession that the argument lacks merit." *State v. McNeair*, 88 Wn.App. 331, 340, 944 P.2d 1099 (1997).

or an executive/administrative function. Mr. Rasmussen cites

(for the first time on appeal) to the dissent in Miller v. Pacific

County<sup>13</sup> for this assertion. It can be inferred that no controlling

authority exists.

Mr. Rasmussen troublingly fails to disclose, however, that the

dissent in Miller makes a distinction between legislative

functions vs. executive/administrative functions to suggest that

the nature of the immunity might vary (in contradiction to the

holding of the majority). Justice Utter concludes: "I would hold

that the commissioners, acting here in their administrative

capacity, hold only a qualified privilege which may be defeated

by bad faith or malice." <sup>14</sup> For the purposes of this case, then, this

is a distinction without a difference because no bad faith or

malice was ever alleged, and while Justice Utter disagrees with

the majority opinion's decision regarding absolute immunity for

legislative actions, arguing instead for qualified immunity, the

<sup>13</sup> 91 Wn.2d 744, 753-54, 592 P.2d 639 (1979).

<sup>14</sup> Miller, 91 Wn.2d at 757 (Utter, C.J., dissenting).

dissent surely does not advocate the strict personal liability

argued by Mr. Rasmussen.

**ANSWER TO ARGUMENT B(2):** 

"A Special Bond Statute Protects the County and Its Constituents From Official Misconduct With Respect to the

Administration and Management of County Funds and

Accounts."

Mr. Rasmussen, in another new argument on appeal, claims

that "[t]he bonds that county commissioners post are unrelated to

their legislative duties," and "[t]he bonds secure only the proper

performance of their executive/administrative functions of

managing county funds and accounts, and overseeing the care

and use of county property." Mr. Rasmussen cites to no legal

authority for this interpretation of the statutes, either, beyond

simply asserting that this interpretation is inherent in RCW

36.32.60; therefore, this Court may disregard it. 15

15 Frank Coluccio, 136 Wn.App. at 779; McNeair, 88 Wn.App.

at 340.

**ANSWER TO ARGUMENT B(3):** 

"RCW 36.32.060 Creates Individual Liability For Illegal

Gifts of Public Funds."

In this section, Mr. Rasmussen simply repeats the same

contention that he has repeatedly failed to support throughout

this proceeding. On page 23, he claims, "Under both RCW

36.32.060 and RCW 42.08.020, each commissioner is liable

under his bond for his personal vote." He cites to no authority.

Mr. Rasmussen argues that State v. Levy, 16 cited by the

Opinion is inapplicable because the ultimate decision as to the

individual in the case was based on the rule of lenity as applied

to criminal statutes; however, this was not the basis for Division

III's reference to this case. Levy was cited for the proposition

that "an individual county commissioner cannot be held liable

for actions taken by the board as a body."17 Mr. Rasmussen

sidesteps that point (which is the only relevant point) in order to

16 8 Wn.2d 630, 113 P.2d 306 (1941).

<sup>17</sup> Opinion, pg. 7.

Answer to Petition - Page 14 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

discuss the irrelevance of lenity, which was not referenced by

Division III in its Opinion.

**ANSWER TO ARGUMENT B(4)**:

"Immunity is Not Conferred Upon a Commissioner or the Sureties on the Official Bond for Ordering the Illegal

Payment of Public Funds by a Majority Vote of the Board in

a Public Meeting."

On page 25, Mr. Rasmussen claims, "RCW 36.32.060

imposes personal liability for an individual's vote to deter a

majority of the board from ordering, approving, or auditing an

illegal gift of public funds." As ever, he cites to no authority.

In this section, Mr. Rasmussen appears to argue that the

decision at issue was an executive/administrative action by the

Board, not a legislative one, but he does so rather half-heartedly

without reaching the conclusion necessitated by that assertion,

because to do otherwise would require him to argue that qualified

immunity (rather than absolute immunity) would apply, and his

claim is based on strict liability, which is not served by a

conclusion in favor of any kind of immunity.

Answer to Petition - Page 15 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PŁLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

ANSWER TO ARGUMENT B(5):

"Commissioners Are Liable Upon Their Official Bonds

Despite Not Physically Handling Public Funds."

Once again, Mr. Rasmussen merely asserts that RCW

36.32.060 is an independent cause of action that does not require

the operation of RCW 42.08.020, but he cites to no authority for

this conclusion, and instead simply asserts that Division III's

Opinion "violates separation of powers" without further

explanation.

IV. CONCLUSION

Despite the sound and fury of Mr. Rasmussen's Petition for

Review (including a variety of new arguments made for the first

time to this Court), the fact remains that Mr. Rasmussen provides

no support for his theory that individual members of governing

bodies are strictly and personally liable for the collective

decisions of the body as a whole.

Division III's *Opinion* does not conflict with any decision of

this Court or any other court of appeals. It does not raise a

Answer to Petition - Page 16 of 19

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

significant question under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States. It does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. Therefore, this Court should deny Mr. Rasmussen's *Petition for Review*.

The undersigned certifies that the foregoing brief contains 2,712 words not including the appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, signature blocks, and this certification of compliance.